CONSIDERING THE ROLE OF SECURITY SECTOR REFORM AND POLICE REFORM WHEN TACKLING ORGANIZED CRIME IN POST-CONFLICT ENVIRONMENTS

FIONA B. MANGAN VISITING FELLOW, RULE OF LAW COLLABORATIVE

DECEMBER 2018





Justice Sector Training, Research and Coordination (JUSTRAC)* Research Report

* A Cooperative Agreement of the Rule of Law Collaborative at the

University of South Carolina and the Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs, U.S. Department of State The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the views of the U.S. Department of State.

CONTENTS

| Executive Summary i |
|---|
| Definitions and Concepts1 |
| SSR and Organized Crime Taken Together1 |
| Evolution of SSR and Police Reform Concepts2 |
| Evolution of Organized Crime in Conflict Spaces Literature3 |
| Areas of Crossover in Literature between SSR and Organized Crime6 |
| Case Studies7 |
| Northern Ireland7 |
| Bosnia-Herzegovina12 |
| Observations |
| Organized Crime Is a Reality in Conflict and Post-Conflict Contexts17 |
| Peace Processes—the Challenge of Balance and Timing20 |
| If You Open the Window, How and When Do You Close It? |
| Recommendations22 |
| Multi-Level Approach22 |
| Analysis23 |
| Changing Police Culture and Structures: Going beyond Community Policing |
| |
| The Crucial Link between Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration |
| (DDR) and SSR Programming28 |
| Conclusion |
| Endnotes |

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Security sector reform (SSR) has been a principal aim of post-conflict peacebuilding and rule of law programming since the 1990s. The goal to reform security institutions in order to increase civilian oversight, heighten accountability and transparency, strengthen the rule of law, and, above all, to promote human security is indeed admirable in theory, although difficult to achieve in practice. Ideas about SSR continue to evolve, with longstanding SSR efforts providing important insight for those seeking to improve programming and responses. One area that has been overlooked in this vein is the connection between organized crime and SSR. The role organized crime plays in conflict and post-conflict settings is increasingly acknowledged in post-conflict peacebuilding and rule of law discourse. Organized crime, once thought to be the preserve of specialized criminal organizations, is progressively recognized as a funder and driver of conflict. Further, there is a growing acceptance that organized crime is a dynamic actor in post-conflict settings, as well. Despite the emphasis placed on SSR as a means to stabilize post-conflict settings and the significant role organized crime plays in shaping the post-conflict landscape, little direct analysis exists regarding the relationship between SSR and organized crime, how these two concepts work in tandem, and how they impact each other.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Findings

- Organized crime is an unfortunate reality in post-conflict spaces that practitioners should be keenly aware of regardless of whether programs pertaining to organized crime are implemented during the peacebuilding process.
- The timing of addressing organized crime in SSR programs is key; while organized crime is generally tackled in the mid- to long-term phases of peacebuilding processes, in some circumstances states would benefit from immediate attention being given to organized crime.
- The study recognizes that considerations regarding timing, however, often must be balanced with the realities of the peace process. Careful consideration should be given to the potential for instability by addressing organized crime on the one hand with the longer-term negative impacts on the rule of law and corruption if left unaddressed.
- If the decision is made not to tackle organized crime as part of the peacebuilding process, there may be potential consequences that practitioners will need to plan to address at every level of SSR programing including a timeline for how and when organized crime dynamics will be addressed.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Recommendations

- Organized crime needs to be taken into consideration at all levels—from the diplomatic level to strategic program design and intervention decisions, to the senior leadership, to the practitioner.
- A better culture of analysis needs to be developed regarding organized crime in the peace process, particularly in the early stages to determine when and how to address organized crime in SSR and police reform programs.
- SSR should be more closely coordinated with disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration (DDR) efforts to maximize effectiveness in addressing organized crime.
- To address organized crime, changes to the police culture and structure are needed beyond community policing models. In particular, there should be less hesitancy to build the intelligence capacity of police forces.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

DEFINITIONS AND CONCEPTS

This paper uses the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development-Development Assistance Committee (OECD-DAC) definition of security sector reform (SSR), which describes it as "transforming the security sector/system, which includes all the actors, their roles, responsibilities and actions, so that they work together to manage and operate the system in a manner that is more consistent with democratic norms and sound principles of good governance, and thus contributes to a well-functioning security framework."¹ Regarding organized crime, the paper adopts the UN Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime definition that an "'organized criminal group' shall mean a structured group of three or more persons, existing for a period of time and acting in concert with the aim of committing one or more serious crimes or offences established in accordance with this Convention, in order to obtain, directly or indirectly, a financial or other material benefit." ² Finally, this paper adopts the OECD definition of peacebuilding, viewing it as a process which includes "activities designed to prevent conflict through addressing structural and proximate causes of violence, promoting sustainable peace, delegitimizing violence as a dispute resolution strategy, building capacity within society to peacefully manage disputes, and reducing vulnerability to triggers that may spark violence."

SSR AND ORGANIZED CRIME TAKEN TOGETHER

Relatively little literature or policy work explores the link between organized crime and SSR, despite the existence of a large body of literature on rule of law, justice, and SSR and a growing body of literature on organized crime in post-conflict spaces. This section explores the gap by reviewing

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

the literature in three areas: (1) the evolution of SSR and police reform concepts, (2) the evolution of organized crime in conflict spaces literature, and (3) the areas of cross-over in literature between SSR and organized crime.

Evolution of SSR and Police Reform Concepts

The notion of SSR developed in the 1990s as the international community grappled with the new security landscape that unfolded at end of the Cold War.³ Alternatives were sought for the strictly militarized approaches of the Cold War-era—centered on training, equipping, and funding militaries—which had, in some cases, contributed to instability in developing and post-conflict countries. In place of militarized involvement arose a liberal template for intervention characterized by two principal ideas: first, that development and security were intimately linked, and second, that democratization would enhance peace, security, and stability as a whole.⁴ In the wake of 9/11, security issues and SSR were considered ever more central to addressing the intensified security threats of the globalized world.⁵

The ideal of SSR has been described as people-centric—expanding beyond reforms centered on armed forces to be inclusive of civilian security needs, focused on long-term goals versus acute security threats, and intended to graft models of human rights, democratic norms, and rule of law holistically into the security sector as a whole versus a single institution.⁶ After nearly two decades of attempts to achieve the ambitious ideals of SSR, there is widespread consensus that SSR in reality is state-centric, top-down, and often unsuccessful.⁷ Some scholars and practitioners question whether orthodox notions of SSR are in fact "too utopian . . . to succeed."⁸ These frustrations have given rise to calls for second-generation SSR, broadly characterized as flexible, bottom-up approaches

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

emphasized by their willingness to accept realities on the ground, more realistic in aim,⁹ and more inclusive of the community and civil society.¹⁰ Although the attraction of shifting to a second-generation SSR model is clear, the parameters of such a model remain highly vague, and beyond conceptualizing what a second-generation SSR model could entail, little research has been conducted on concrete, practical applications of such programs.¹¹

Policing is an important subset of the security sector, and thus, police reform has become a core tenet of SSR. As such, ideological debate over traditional versus second-generation approaches to police reform is beginning to shift.¹² Frustration and disillusionment is mounting over traditional methods of police reform, with concern expressed by practitioners and academics alike over the inability of traditional modes of police reform to ameliorate local attitudes about law enforcement or quell police abuse, and newer models advocating for increased civil society involvement, utilizing technology, and becoming more inclusive of women in security processes.¹³ Additional research and case studies on second-generation police reform will be especially helpful in defining its parameters and gauging its success against traditional models.

Evolution of Organized Crime in Conflict Spaces Literature

Up until the 1980s, organized crime was primarily viewed as a problem most often limited to particular cities and locales, aside from a limited number of specialized criminal outfits.¹⁴ After the Cold War, many countries experienced instability and transition in the tumult following the establishment of the new world order, which created opportunities for criminal networks to expand.¹⁵ The expansion continued as routes opened up through the Balkans, the Caribbean, and in Central America, which were optimal for illicit activities such as drug smuggling and human

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

trafficking.¹⁶ The onset of globalization allowed organized crime to further lose its geographic confines and gain more prominence in the global arena within the decade.¹⁷ It is no surprise then that theories began to emerge in the 1990s examining the link between conflict spaces and organized crime.¹⁸ Mary Kaldor, for example, posited what is described as the "new wars" theory, arguing that globalization and the end of the Cold War blurred the lines between war, organized crime, and large-scale violations of human rights, observing that, "the new wars occur in situations in which state revenues decline because of the decline of the economy as well as the spread of criminality, corruption and inefficiency, violence is increasingly privatized both as a result of growing organized crime and the emergency of paramilitary groups, and political legitimacy is disappearing. Thus, the distinctions between external barbarity and domestic civility, between the combatant as the legitimate bearer of arms and the non-combatant, between the soldier or policeman and the criminal, are breaking down."¹⁹

Literature examining theories of greed versus grievance in conflict also developed, arguing whether conflict is driven by the link between conflict and organized crime, dependent upon opportunistic political actors who exploit the chances for financial gain opened up by conflict.²⁰ Both the new wars theory and the greed theory recognize the prominent role globalization plays in the exacerbation of conflict. Further, both theories emphasize the politicization of organized crime during conflict: "[organized crime] funds political violence, it changes the abilities of local political actors and it has long-term political consequences for the state and peacebuilding."²¹ In short, organized crime has evolved from what was thought of as an isolated issue to an expansive problem that entrenches conflict, fosters cross-border instability, and has become entangled with political actors.²²

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

The intensity and nature of organized crime itself is also a point of discussion. James Cockayne argues that organized crime is not merely another aspect of the post-conflict space; instead, Cockayne asserts that organized crime is its own "strategic actor" that can manipulate government power and even make war.²³ This breaks from other, more traditional views that perceive criminal activity as "not logical—but rather irrational or at least disorganized—or if logical, then not strategic in the sense relevant to politics, war, and international affairs." ²⁴ Further, organized criminal networks such as gangs sometimes adopt roles traditionally assumed by the state, such as the provision of social assistance.²⁵ Despite the more complex understanding of organized crime that is emerging, emphasis in some contexts remains on crime reduction rather than attempting to understand the relationship between political actors and criminal organizations.²⁶

Another major body of crime-conflict literature is devoted to examining the development of organized crime in a region or country-specific manner. For example, Christiana Steenkamp compared the development of organized crime before and during the war in Syria.²⁷ Francesco Mancini published a study of the rise of organized crime in Jamaica.²⁸ Glenn E. Curtis and Tara Karacan studied the spread of narcotics and weapon trafficking and terrorism into Western Europe through the Balkans and former Warsaw Pact states.²⁹ There are many others. Further, a body of literature exists that focuses on a specific type of organized crime in a variety of contexts. One example is the Rand Corporation's study on film piracy, organized crime, and terrorism in Russia, Mexico, and Japan.³⁰ Another is Judith Vorrath's study of drug trafficking in Liberia and Sierra Leone.³¹ In short, the topics that dominate literature regarding organized crime in conflict spaces revolve around theoretical underpinnings, specific geographic locales, and/or the development of specific types of organized crime.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Areas of Crossover in Literature between SSR and Organized Crime

The majority of literature that addresses both SSR and organized crime does so tangentially, not directly. Security institutions are often attributed as "sources of insecurity"³² without explaining the connection between the failure of the institutions, SSR efforts, and organized crime. A number of authors including Mark Shaw, James Cockayne, Walter Kemp, Vanda Felbab-Brown, and Camino Kavanagh, among others, have made important contributions in filling this gap, particularly stressing the importance of mainstreaming the analysis of threats posed by organized crime in the conflict space in peacekeeping and statebuilding interventions.³³ Additionally, the United Kingdom's (UK) Stabilization Unit has given significant consideration to "the relationship between elite bargains, political settlements and peace agreements," recognizing that the interplay of these three issues affects a country's ability to transition out of conflict. While the focus of this work is not strictly or exclusively on organized crime, it is recognized as an important bargain made in conflict transformation.³⁴

As second-generation SSR comes more to the foreground, scholars and practitioners are calling for more sophisticated analyses that delve into the complexities, nuances, and contextual factors which influence the impact of SSR initiatives.³⁵ The International Peace Institute, for example, brought together a task force on transnational organized crime that issued a blue paper urging for analysis on organized crime to be "integrated into all aspects of peace efforts."³⁶ In this way, literature on SSR—particularly in the frame of international peacekeeping—and post-conflict organized crime have begun to draw the two areas closer together, opening the door for analysis of the role that they play in promoting peace and stability.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

CASE STUDIES

In order to advance analysis of whether, how, and at what stage SSR initiatives account for surges in organized crime, commonplace in post-conflict periods, and assess the gaps that currently exist connecting the concepts, this project draws on research gathered during fieldwork in two mature case studies, Northern Ireland and Bosnia-Herzegovina. In each country their respective peace processes have been ongoing for over two decades, allowing analysis of the state of the SSR processes and nature and evolution of organized crime in each environment over time. Along with desk research, the case studies draw from in-person and telephone interviews with experienced rule of law practitioners, policy-makers, and academics.

Northern Ireland

Organized crime dynamics in Northern Ireland have shifted and been shaped by the peace process following the Good Friday Agreement (GFA) in 1998 (also known as the Belfast Agreement), which formally ended the thirty-year civil war known as "the Troubles." Although the scale of organized crime in Northern Ireland is comparatively small, its entwinement with paramilitary groups persists as a key factor impeding the dissolution of paramilitary armed group structures and sustaining negative conflict dynamics to present day—twenty years after the end of the conflict.³⁷ Throughout the Troubles, both so-called republican and loyalist paramilitaries engaged in organized crime and sought to access criminal networks as a crucial means of financing and sustaining conflict. However, the nature of organized criminal behavior and socio-cultural linkages differ between the republican and loyalist communities, which has affected how organized crime dynamics have unfolded.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

During the Troubles, core republican groups—the Provisional Irish Republican Army (PIRA) and the Official Irish Republican Army (IRA)-built strong organizational financing structures capable of generating upward of 48-10 million per vear.³⁸ In addition to benefitting from significant donations,³⁹ they were involved in an extensive range of criminal enterprises including cross-border fuel smuggling, drug smuggling, cigarette smuggling, counterfeiting, VAT carousel fraud,⁴⁰ armed robbery, extortion and protection rackets, illegal waste disposal, and more. Numerous legitimate business enterprises provided a money-laundering front, including property investments in Northern Ireland and abroad, taxi companies, pubs and drinking clubs, and carpet shops.⁴¹ Republican criminal activities were centered around the border with the Republic of Ireland, particularly in Armagh county in the rural south. The IRA also developed significant transnational links with other global terrorist organizations, most prominently the Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia (FARC) in Colombia, the Euskadi Ta Askatasuna (ETA) in Spain, and the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO) in Palestine. In addition, the IRA formed relationships with foreign governments, benefitting from significant financing and access to arms and explosives trafficked from the Qadhafi regime in Libya.⁴² Save a couple of examples, these groups are now considered to have mostly ceased their conflict activities and associated income generation-at least organizationally. Key figures linked to PIRA continue to generate wealth but are believed to be engaging on an individual basis for personal profit at this point.43

Other republican groups are also relevant in this space. Post-peace process, the Irish National Liberation Army (INLA), an IRA splinter group, has become an active player in cross-border drug smuggling and brothels, which draw upon people smuggling and human trafficking rings, with firm links to Dublin-based organized crime families.⁴⁴ Finally, a number of "dissident"

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

republican groups who reject the terms of the GFA remain active in Northern Ireland, including the Real IRA, Continuity IRA, Republican Action Against Drugs, Órglaigh na hÉireann, Irish Republican Movement, and An Nua Phoblachta. Aside from some occasional acts of political violence, these groups are mostly involved in vigilante activities "policing" their own communities and, to a limited extent, play a role in extortion, protection rackets, evictions, and punishment beatings.⁴⁵

Unionist/loyalist paramilitary groups, including the Ulster Volunteer Force (UVF), the Ulster Defence Association (UDA), and Red Hand of Ulster similarly engaged in illicit activities as a means of fundraising during the Troubles. Their activities tended to be more centered within urban and peri-urban communities, particularly loyalist areas in Belfast city and counties Antrim and Down, engaging in activities such as extortion and protection rackets, off-book loans, drug smuggling and distribution, cigarette and alcohol smuggling, prostitution, and human trafficking. While republican fundraising was highly disciplined and organization-centric (at least during the Troubles), loyalist paramilitaries had a greater personal enrichment dynamic. The phrase "For God, Ulster and my back pocket" was a well-known mocking refrain.⁴⁶ Following the GFA, few of these group structures dissolved. Instead there was a significant transition of loyalist paramilitary groups into organized crime activities, particularly the UVF and UDA. Many argue that the role of politics and ideology has become sidelined and that groups now essentially operate as criminal gangs. Tim Mairs, Head of the Police Service of Northern Ireland (PSNI) Reactive and Organized Crime Branch observed, "historically it was about ideology, power and greed. With ideology now largely gone, we're left with power and greed."⁴⁷

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Organized crime in Northern Ireland has always had a regional dimension, with significant cross-border extension into the Republic of Ireland and the United Kingdom, but it also has historical and contemporary links with broader transnational crime trends. Firstly, as observed above, the IRA and PIRA were well-networked globally. Additionally, Northern Ireland has a long-embedded Chinese community, including a number of families and businesses who have ties to the Chinese triad gangs who are involved in drug smuggling and, increasingly, human trafficking and smuggling. These routes are a core supply source for UVF and UDA dealers.⁴⁸ PSNI are also aware of some small interventions by Russian and Albanian organized crime groups, which they are monitoring, believing that they may be testing the waters, along with other Eastern European gangs operating north and south of the border, including Lithuanian and Romanian groups.

SSR and police reform, meanwhile, have served as core components of the peace process. The British Army gradually withdrew from Northern Ireland between 1998-2007.⁴⁹ An independent commission, called the Patten Commission, developed 175 recommendations for police reform, reshaping the Royal Ulster Constabulary (RUC)—a force largely rejected by Catholics as an "enforcer of Protestant domination"—to become the PSNI, with a new name, new uniform, and new symbols. Further, the size of the force was reduced through an early retirement program, the proportion of Catholic officers increased from 8% to 30% over 10 years, and its approach was demilitarized and moved toward community policing.⁵⁰

These early stage police reforms thus focused on key aspects of organizational structure and culture and worked to reshape and repair the relationship between police and community, particularly the Catholic community. In this frame, police reform in Northern Ireland is widely hailed as a model for success—and rightly so. Scant attention, however, was paid to organized crime

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

in the immediate years post-peace deal, particularly the risk that individuals and groups involved in paramilitary-associated criminal activities might transition wholesale into the criminality they had long been involved in. As one retired police officer put it, "Paramilitary activities were like an iceberg. The bombings, shootings and killings were the top, they got all the attention, but the rest—the crime that kept it all running—that was below the surface and it just slipped by."⁵¹ There appears to have been a mixture of things at play: on the one hand, a somewhat naïve hope that once the ideological fight dissipated, so too would funding activities; and on the other, a professed need for tolerance of such individuals and their activities as part of the careful balancing act of maintaining peace. Interviewees in the security and policy sectors described an implicit message: "if you stop the bombing and killing we'll look the other way on other activities for now."

In November 2015, the Northern Ireland Executive launched the Fresh Start Agreement designed to address this dynamic by bringing together the work of an Organized Crime Task Force and a Paramilitary Crime Task Force and fusing them with enhanced cross-border cooperation with the Republic of Ireland to holistically address criminality on the island of Ireland and with greater support from UK government.⁵² "The soft touch period is coming to an end," observed Neil Jarman, an academic who has worked extensively on conflict transformation, including policing. "Certain things were let go until now but that's changing."⁵³ The fruits of these later stage reform efforts are yet to be seen but enhanced attention and analysis of organized crime and paramilitary links is clear. The blinders have come off. A senior retired RUC officer observed, "It was as if we wanted to believe that in ceasing their terrorist activities that they would melt back into the community. When what we needed was to police paramilitaries and their criminality out of existence."

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

In April 2018, Northern Ireland marked the twenty-year anniversary of the Good Friday Agreement. Celebrations and conferences acknowledged the huge positive strides made over twenty years of peace. Nonetheless paramilitary groups remain a fixture of life in Northern Ireland. Recruitment to loyalist paramilitary groups is higher in 2018 than at the time of the GFA in 1998. So-called paramilitary style attacks, including "kneecapping," never went away and in fact the number of these attacks has risen by 60% in recent years.⁵⁴ Groups now operate more like organized criminal gangs but use politics, paramilitary monikers, and sectarian overlay to inhibit demobilization (referred to as decommissioning in Northern Ireland), a key barrier to implementing the terms of the GFA. The United Kingdom's "Brexit" vote to leave the European Union and implications for the border with the Republic of Ireland—an issue central to the peace process—has also further stoked tensions and paramilitary recruitment.⁵⁵

Bosnia-Herzegovina

The organized crime landscape in Bosnia-Herzegovina (BiH) is deeply enmeshed with local political leadership and the security sector, a dynamic that stretches back through history but became more deeply entrenched through conflict. In one-party Yugoslavia (1945-1989)—and over the course of its dissolution—organized crime was characterized by strong, tightly-controlled protection rackets, with clear linkage between the state security sector and criminal groups.⁵⁶ Secret police, in particular, engaged in smuggling across the region's borders, profiting significantly and bringing them into contact with criminal networks within and outside the region.⁵⁷ In the 1980s and early 1990s, these networks were fed by the collapse of communism and associated opening of borders across the Soviet Union, which allowed organized crime to take on a more transnational dimension and injecting flows of weapons into the hands of criminal groups and paramilitaries.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

As war broke out in BiH (1992-1995) and sanctions were imposed, reliance on organized crime networks became crucial to sustaining conflict, providing conflict actors with access to supply chains and weapons, circumventing siege-like conditions and arms embargos. In addition, organized crime actors brought their skills to bear in the fight, as they were experienced, conversant in violence and experts at recruiting. This reliance on criminal actors and networks during conflict allowed some to amass significant wealth and further strengthened relationships between the political figures, security institutions, and the criminal class, allowing the ascension of organized crime figures to institutional and political office.⁵⁸

The Dayton Accords brought an end to violence but installed a power-sharing arrangement that entrenched wartime divisions, hardening, rather than resolving, political and security sector decentralization along ethnic lines. Post-Dayton privatization of ex-Yugoslav state infrastructure furthered this dynamic, with sweetheart deals, corruption, and fraud plaguing the process, now widely viewed as a means of rewarding certain individuals of certain ethnicities. For some this provided a path into the legitimate economy while for others it provided a means of concealing illicit gains.⁵⁹ Overall, it caused the lines between criminal enterprise and lawful business interests to blur.⁶⁰ As a UNODC report notes, "These links help to explain how organized crime has been able to operate in the region with so little imprint on the conventional crime situation: organized crime in the Balkans has been very organized, and lubricated with corruption."⁶¹

In terms of key illicit activities, BiH remains a significant transit country for the drug trade specifically heroin trafficked through the "Balkan route," which connects Afghanistan to Western Europe. Weapons flows from the region, mostly of small arms and light weapons, remain a significant source of arms found on the frontlines of active conflict zones.⁶² Human trafficking and

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

migrant smuggling grew into profitable new markets during conflict years, drawing international attention through scandals involving sexual exploitation by peacekeepers.⁶³ Cigarette smuggling remains active but is believed to have reduced, following years as a booming trade during the war years.⁶⁴ More recently, BiH has drawn attention and support to tackle radicalization and recruitment of citizens to ISIS.

Police reform in BiH is widely considered to be incomplete. The initial aim of SSR was to strengthen central state security institutions and to centralize police structures, moving away from ethnically and geographically distinct police forces, which had played a negative role during the conflict. However, the terms of the Dayton Accords undercut this goal by allowing for a highly decentralized and fragmented political arrangement. Although intended as a temporary measure, Dayton was never replaced over time. The Accords created a central government with limited powers, run by a three-member Presidency composed of a member of each major ethnic group, divided into two autonomous entities—the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (the Federation), Republika Srpska, and a third region, the Brčko District, which is governed under another separate local government. Even within the autonomous Federation there is further sub-division into ten cantons.

This fractured and divided landscape has been mirrored in policing. Republika Srpska has its own Ministry of Interior and police force. The Federation, meanwhile, has ten canton police agencies with general policing competencies and one district police force for Brčko District, with an additional overarching federal police force possessing limited competencies over complex and organized crime, inter-cantonal crime, anti-terrorism, and VIP protection. While federal or decentralized policing arrangements exist in many countries, in BiH it has resulted in 13 different

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

law enforcement agencies for a population of 3.5 million. The number of agencies was increased further to add a state border service in 2000, court security, and the State Investigation and Protection Agency (SIPA), which should have broad competence to deal with serious and organized crime but whose authority is resisted by Republika Srpska and, to a lesser extent, some of the cantons.⁶⁵ Although harmonization across institutions is mandated by law, it has never been implemented in practice.

Post-conflict dynamics impeded coordination and cooperation between the different cantons and Republika Srpska, allowing organized crime and even ordinary crime to deploy the strategy of operating between the state's many internal boundary lines. At one point, even a simple car theft in Sarajevo city presented a police coordination challenge, as a vehicle could be driven just a few kilometers across the river and police had no power to investigate and limited capacity to coordinate. Basic coordination on this front has improved, but it demonstrates the very real challenges when extrapolated to the level of tackling serious and organized crime. Additionally, policing budgets and planning are managed by the political leadership of each of the cantons and Republika Srpska, again normal in many countries but problematic given dynamics in BiH. The overlap between political and criminal class means that political leadership can constrain any sort of investigation into criminality. As one retired police officer put it, "The politicians don't want police reform. They like it as it is; a mess."⁶⁶

Adding to the political complexities at play, the police reform process was disjointed, managed by a series of different international actors during different phases, with mixed results and poor coordination. Immediately post-Dayton, the United Nations deployed the International Police Task Force (IPTF), which ran three phases of programming between 1995-2002, initially providing

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

basic restructuring assistance and performance monitoring, secondly implementing a police certification process, and finally supporting the set-up of two national-level agencies: the border police and SIPA. In 2003, the European Union Police Mission (EUPM) took over, focusing on depoliticization, consolidation, and strengthening state bodies. At this stage, organized crime was recognized and addressed as a serious concern, with the EUPM mission mandated to: strengthen the operational capacity of law enforcement agencies to address organized crime and corruption, assist and support in planning and conducting investigations against organized crime and corruption in adopting a systematic approach, and assist and promote the development of criminal investigative capacities; and the mandate to address organized crime and corruption further strengthened in 2006.67 Paddy Ashdown, then High Representative, has observed, "When, in 2002, I first arrived in Bosnia and Herzegovina [...] it was apparent to me that the biggest threat to peace and security was the grip that organized crime had on the country."68 In spite of some strides made, particularly in reforming and strengthening the justice sector, the seeds had already been sown, allowing the fractured policing model in place and politics to resist later stage reform initiatives. Each phase of programming aimed at depoliticizing policing and increasing central state capacity and coordination, was met with resistance, particularly from Republika Srpska, which continue to resist any state-level intervention in their jurisdiction.⁶⁹ EUPM closed its mission in 2012. Despite nearly ten years of programming involving support from multiple donors and organizations, the international community had failed to affect the kind of progress in police reform it had envisaged. Police reform is considered "unfinished business" and weaknesses on this core security issue are generally regarded to have negatively impacted the international community's broader leverage on key political and security issues.70

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Organized crime and corruption continue to undercut peace and security in BiH and across the Balkans, quietly undermining and corroding state institutions from within in a manner that becomes more and more organized and challenging to address.⁷¹ An EU mission with justice and security reform goals remains in place, working to support local authorities to meet targets for EU accession. Policing remains divided, and there are growing concerns that Republika Srpska has sought to militarize its police force, recently receiving weapons and tactical support from Russia.⁷²

OBSERVATIONS

Organized Crime Is a Reality in Conflict and Post-Conflict Contexts.

Across conflict contexts, reliance on transnational organized crime, illicit trafficking, and criminal networks has become key to financing and sustaining conflict. Following from this, postconflict contexts characterized by fragile governance structures, political deal-making, weak security, and groups of unemployed, directionless conflict actors and populations who have become both tolerant of and traumatized by violence are ripe for the expansion and growth of organized crime.

Organized crime is increasingly recognized as a threat to international peace and security. It is a factor in almost all conflict, post-conflict, and transitional environments where the international community provides support, including in all current UN peacekeeping, peacebuilding, and special political mission countries.⁷³ In spite of this, Mark Shaw points out that, "almost without exception, the growth of crime [...] in the post-transition period caught new governments by surprise."⁷⁴ Northern Ireland is illustrative. As the case study demonstrates, at the end of the Troubles, there was a naïve hope that organized crime would eventually dry out with the conflict. This mistaken

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

belief was rooted in the idea that paramilitary groups would stop their funding activities if the conflict was over and the notion that the activities of the groups was sustained primarily by ideological and political motives. As time has passed and paramilitary recruitment has soared to levels even beyond that during the end of the Troubles, it has become clear that these structures are entrenched and will not dissipate on their own. The structures which were active during conflict have proven adaptable in evolving beyond the roles they played during the civil war.

BiH has a complicated relationship with organized criminal groups given the fractured power-sharing structure put in place due to compromises made during the negotiation of the Dayton Agreement. As this case study demonstrates, the power structure allows for a redundancy of enforcement agencies with confusing and limited jurisdiction that inhibit police from tackling even basic crime. Organized crime strengthened its grip in BiH post-Dayton, and it has flourished under these conditions.

The case studies provide two helpful observations for practitioners. First, organized crime is an issue that will not resolve itself merely because the conflict is over. As the Northern Ireland example demonstrates, organized criminal groups are adaptable beyond the ideological and political associations they forge during conflict and are able to embed deeply into post-conflict society. Second, as the BiH example shows, a society's power structures can enable organized crime postconflict. These tough realities are of primary importance for practitioners to grapple with in the immediate planning phases.

Timing Is Key.

As a result of recognition of the threat to peace and security posed by organized crime, significant global attention and support are directed towards criminal justice sector support

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

programs aimed at combatting organized crime. However, these are rarely targeted during the immediate post-conflict phase or mainstreamed into considerations made during peace deal negotiations. Rather, they tend to be confined to mid- and later-stage engagement. Programming appears to fall into the categories of state building, development, or bilateral cooperation projects, rather than as core to peacebuilding itself.

In Northern Ireland, addressing violent crime and terrorism was prioritized. Only recently have serious efforts developed to target organized crime as well, significantly in November 2015 with the Fresh Start Agreement. In BiH, the IPTF began its work in 1995 after the Dayton Agreement was signed. Even though widespread cognizance of the importance of addressing organized crime occurred relatively early, organized criminal groups were able to take advantage of the fragmented power structure immediately.

Going beyond Northern Ireland and BiH, practitioners should observe that organized criminal groups are able to adapt quickly to post-conflict settings and take advantage of the landscape presented to dig into society. As time passes, the criminal structures become increasingly embedded. Tackling organized crime in post-conflict programming comes with certain tradeoffs, which are discussed in depth below. As such, this section does not comment on the wisdom of Northern Ireland, BiH, or any other post-conflict society to wait to implement organized crime initiatives until later stages (if at all). Rather, this section observes that the immediate phases postconflict present ripe opportunities for organized crime to adapt to the new status quo. Further, the more time passes, the more intricately organized crime can forge itself into society. As such, initiatives to combat organized crime should be implemented in immediate post-conflict stages if the particular context allows.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Peace Processes—the Challenge of Balance and Timing

As peace processes aim to end conflict and transition conflict actors toward legitimate peacetime activities, we tend to assume that conflict-related financing activities will also cease. In reality, peace processes often create permissive environments in order to allow space for conflict actors to transition away from conflict and legitimize their behaviors. Peace processes are challenged by balancing the immediate need to end violent conflict and build basic stability and confronting the negative behaviors of actors important to the peace process. In the early stages post-conflict, this may involve reducing active conflict to tolerable levels of violence, while permitting or turning a blind eye to certain illicit behaviors. Tackling organized crime may present as an issue that can wait until basic stability has been achieved.⁷³ However, this assumes that conflict actors may transition into more positive roles in time or perhaps accepts a certain level of drift of conflict actors. In a key 2013 paper, Walter Kemp, Mark Shaw, and Arthur Boutellis ask, "Against this backdrop, which is more risky: addressing the issue of organized crime at an early stage and potentially stirring up a hornet's nest of armed and dangerous groups, or waiting a few years until the same groups have exchanged their uniforms for suits and control business, politics, and the security apparatus, not just illicit markets?"⁷⁶

In Northern Ireland, a decision was made to address violent conflict versus organized criminal structures. Such balancing may be necessary in post-conflict society; however, the decision to do so in Northern Ireland was influenced in part by the misguided assumption that organized crime would cease on its own. Had Northern Ireland balanced the reality that organized crime was only going to become more deeply enmeshed in society against the immediate need for stability, perhaps a more strategic plan could have been formulated to tackle organized crime at earlier stages.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Northern Ireland's retroactive approach may now bear fruit as practitioners struggle with organized crime after it has been allowed to proliferate unchecked for the past two decades.

In BiH, the phase immediately post-Dayton perhaps would have provided the best opportunity to meet organized crime head on before organized criminal groups were able to realize the full extent that they could exploit the fragmented power structure to their advantage. Going forward, it is important to observe that prioritizing immediate stability over organized crime is not wrong in and of itself and may be necessary in many contexts. However, timing is crucial to combat organized crime and must be included in the analysis of how to best build peace in the long term.

If You Open the Window, How and When Do You Close It?

Much like the age-old debate of peace versus justice, in some cases the answer to the above question may be that peace is too fragile to address organized crime dynamics in the post-conflict space. However, if that decision is made, we need to be more cognizant of the bargain made and plan for the potential consequences. We need to engage in planning and discussing a phased decision to address it, at every level including in SSR programming and planning, crafting a vision and timeline for how and when organized crime dynamics will be addressed should they emerge. As the Northern Ireland and BiH examples demonstrate, it is crucial to be aware that the decision not to engage early on may have broader impact on SSR programming, including the risk of corruption of the security sector.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Multi-Level Approach

Organized crime needs to be taken into consideration at multiple levels given the critical role it plays in post-conflict society. This section will highlight a few such levels, but is not intended to be all-encompassing.

First, considerations regarding organized crime should be grafted into diplomacy efforts. As the International Peace Institute recommends, "[p]eacemaking efforts, including the drafting of peace agreements, should consider the crime-conflict relationship, and the role of [transnational organized crime] as a potential peace spoiler."77 Involving police experts in the peace negotiation process is one way to accomplish this objective.78 For example, enforcement expertise would have benefitted Northern Ireland as peace was brokered. Had Northern Ireland had a more nuanced analysis of the potential durability of organized crime past conflict phases, perhaps it would have taken a more proactive approach rather than simply turning a blind eve to organized crime in exchange for more immediate peace. BiH is more difficult to generalize given the ethnic, religious, historic, and political complexities that went into negotiating the Dayton Agreement. Richard Holbrooke, who brokered the agreement, noted that both the dangers of failing to reach agreement and the realization that any agreement would necessarily be imperfect were critical during negotiations: "There is a sense here that peace is probably inevitable because of the dangers if we fail. That may be true, as far as it goes. But the critical question-will the Bosnians grasp an imperfect peace or let the war resume-remains unsolved."79 The BiH example demonstrates that, while desirable, incorporating organized crime in diplomacy phases may not always be possible.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Further, organized crime should be incorporated at a strategic level, which is discussed in depth in the section above. Additionally, considerations regarding organized crime should be considered both from above at a senior leadership level and on the ground at the practitioner level. Too often a disconnect exists between policy objectives and practice realities that hinder the ability to effectively combat organized crime. Henri Boshoff, Dylan Hendrickson, Sylvie More, and Thierry Vircoulon expound upon this disconnect in the context of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC): "In the police sector, the foreign domination of international-Congolese planning bodies has led to slow uptake of the reform process on the part of the national authorities. A clear disconnect has been evident between donor-dominated Kinshasa-based discussions on institutional and technical reform and Congolese security chiefs' preoccupation and focus on operations in the East. As a result of this, and because of the fact that internal security is considered less important than defence [by DRC leadership], progress in the area of police reform has been slow."⁸⁰

In short, a multi-layered approach should be adopted to effectively address organized crime in post-conflict societies. This approach should also promote coordination and linkage between the different layers and levels of intervention, breaking down counterproductive silos between donor and implementer mandates, as well as diplomatic, development, and stabilization actors.

Analysis

Too often, critical analysis of the threat posed by organized crime in post-conflict environments and consideration of how to tackle it are missing or engaged in too late. Yet, as observed above, analytically balancing stability concerns against timing is crucial. As Kemp, Shaw, and Boutellis note, "policymakers may be wary of taking on criminals since it may add to instability, especially where links exist between serious crimes and various powerful actors whose support is

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

needed if the peace process is to proceed. Therefore, tackling organized crime is usually a low priority. On the other hand, it is precisely during this period of transition that criminal groups take advantage of political uncertainty and weak rule of law in order to create facts on the ground and exploit new opportunities."⁸¹

Northern Ireland failed to ask these questions following the GFA, going easy on conflictrelated organized crime to secure more immediate peace while mistakenly hoping that organized crime would dry up with the conflict. Had these strategic questions been asked at the onset, a more proactive stance could have been adopted. Even if organized crime was tabled in early stages for stability, it is likely that efforts to combat organized crime would have begun much sooner. As it is, Northern Ireland must retroactively struggle with the organized crime problem now that it has become an increasingly rooted fixture of society.

BiH demonstrates the urgency of implementing initiatives against organized crime, particularly in contexts in which power structures are complex and susceptible to manipulation by opportunistic politicians and organized criminals. In BiH, the structures set into place by the Dayton Agreement severely impede efforts to combat organized crime. However, revision of the Dayton Agreement is unlikely.⁸² As such, the immediate post-Dayton phase provided perhaps the greatest occasion to address organized crime in BiH prior to organized criminal networks realizing the extent to which the fragmented power-structure and bloated law enforcement apparatus was favorable to their activities.

Developing an analytical approach allows practitioners to make informed decisions regarding the tradeoffs of addressing organized crime and to strategically determine whether such tradeoffs are

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

justified given a particular society's unique context and long-term peacebuilding goals. At the onset of the peace process, this should include: (1) conducting a threat assessment to consider the contextual nature of crime, the broader political economy of the conflict and how that may develop during a transition to peace; (2) based upon information gathered and other factors at play, discussing whether organized crime can/should be tackled at all or whether the threat of immediate violent conflict is so significant that organized crime should be tabled; (3) if organized crime should be addressed, deciding at what time it should be addressed; (4) when the timing is strategically appropriate to tackle organized crime, determining what methods should be used to address it; (5) conducting further sector-specific analysis and planning, including for SSR and other relevant program areas; and (6) ensuring ongoing analysis and periodic review to track progress, assess new vulnerabilities, track program impact; and to develop diplomatic-, political-, strategic-, and programlevel course-correction where necessary.

The International Peace Institute has proffered concrete recommendations for strengthening the culture of analysis, which bear repeating here:⁸³ (1) improve information sharing; (2) convene a Working Group to develop protocols to propel information sharing regarding organized crime; (3) incorporate police experts during the negotiation of peace agreements; (4) improve operational interaction; and (5) include organized crime in peacekeeping mandates.⁸⁴

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Changing Police Culture and Structures: Going beyond Community Policing

Working to reshape security architecture and outlook, including police culture and structured institutional change, are core to SSR and police reform. Significant strides have been made to advance cultural shifts in policing in post-conflict environments, particularly a popular emphasis on community policing over the past two decades.⁸⁵ Community policing can form an integral part of tackling ordinary and organized crimes. As police develop relationships of trust with the community, they are capable of observing dynamics on the ground and gain information from citizens to inform strategic decisions on how to address crime.⁸⁶ However, in tackling organized crime, we need to draw upon, but also go beyond, community policing models.

Developing police and law enforcement intelligence is key to expanding reform efforts beyond community policing, given the importance of law enforcement intelligence gathering and information-sharing in effectively combatting serious and organized crime. In spite of this, significant sensitivity and hesitancy to engage with police to build specialized police intelligence and analytical functions often pervades post-conflict contexts. The reasons for this are clear. State intelligence agencies often play a role in conflict and authoritarian regimes, gaining a negative reputation given secrecy, spying, military and security operations. As such, the international community struggles with how to sensitivity contributed to the exclusion of intelligence institutions from reform efforts in Central African Republic and the DRC, for example.⁸⁷ Such exclusion can also "undermine the reform process by serving as a home for the types of corrupt and repressive activities that SSR efforts are attempting to eliminate within the regular forces."⁸⁸ Conversely,

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

developing intelligence institutions can bolster reform efforts; for example, the development of intelligence institutions was an important facet of reform efforts in Sierra Leone,⁸⁹ which is often cited as a relatively successful implementation of SSR.⁹⁰ Given its importance, the international community needs to strategically engage on developing this key area of support. To address the negative stigma surrounding intelligence-gathering bodies often carried over from former regimes, a clear distinction should be made between law enforcement intelligence and intelligence-led policing and high intelligence services, and that distinction should be clearly articulated to local actors.

Here, the Northern Irish experience is illustrative. Intelligence gathering played a central role in the British government's war with the IRA, developing a complex web of informants, which it regards as having played a central role in bringing an end to the conflict. This, however, has left its mark on society, breeding a culture of suspicion. Recently declassified Troubles-era reports reveal that the RUC were instructed to place intelligence gathering and recruitment of informants above fighting crime.²⁰ For example, "[a]s a consequence, a number of British agents are now known to have been involved in murders, bombings and shootings, while continuing to pass on information about their terrorist associates.²⁰ Additionally, from an institutional structure perspective, the RUC relied heavily upon British military intelligence, alongside its own internal intelligence unit, the Special Branch. Senior retired RUC officers point out that when the British Army pulled out, in the wake of the GFA, the newly restructuring PSNI was left with a major gap in its intelligencegathering capacity during crucial post-conflict years.²³ These cultural and structural concerns remain sensitive issues that need to be addressed to allow the PSNI to break with the conflict-era approach of the past, reorient toward fighting crime, and deploy intelligence-led policing in addressing organized and paramilitary crime.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

The Crucial Link between Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration (DDR) and SSR Programming

Engaging a linked strategic approach and ensuring coordination between DDR and SSR programming is crucial in guarding against the drift of armed actors from conflict into organized crime after cessation of hostilities and also in guarding against the penetration of security agencies by organized criminal elements. SSR is broad; Hanggi identifies at least three distinct contexts in which SSR is utilized: (1) the development context, (2) the post-authoritarian context, and (3) the post-conflict context.⁹⁴ DDR on the other hand is typically only associated with ex-combatants in the post-conflict context. Further, DDR has traditionally been thought to be a separate issue from SSR.⁹⁵ Within the post-conflict context, however, there is growing consensus that DDR and SSR should be linked and that doing so may prevent ex-combatants from contributing to organized crime.⁹⁶ For one, both DDR and SSR have the same purpose—namely the "consolidation of the state's monopoly of force to uphold the rule of law.⁹⁹⁷ Further, DDR and SSR seeks to reform. Conversely, ineffective SSR, such as failing to properly vet and retrain ex-combatants prior to entry in a civilian police force, can have disastrous implications for DDR.⁹⁸

Ex-combatants are interwoven into the security sectors of many post-conflict contexts.⁹⁹ The relationship between ex-combatants and politicians, civilians, outside actors, and their former victims is thought to uniquely situate ex-combatants in a position to influence the outcomes of SSR. As such, it is argued that successful SSR is largely dependent on the buy-in of ex-combatants.¹⁰⁰ Edward Rees claims that "DDR is as important to SSR as SSR is at the heart of the process of building rule of law in the wake of war."¹⁰¹ The link between SSR and DDR is not always

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

emphasized to the extent that Rees emphasizes it. However, the importance of the relationship between SSR and DDR is widely recognized. The African Union Policy Framework on SSR, for example, which was adopted in 2013, acknowledges that "[i]n post-conflict situations, SSR and DDR may be intrinsically linked and may complement each other." Despite this growing recognition, more research is needed to establish the relationship between DDR, SSR, and organized crime in post-conflict societies.

In BiH, DDR and SSR processes were slow to begin post-Dayton. As a result, a first phase of voluntary demobilization of combatants occurred in 1996 without financial or programmatic support from the local or international community, resulting in many attempting to rejoin society faced with barriers of lack of education and employment opportunities, as well as high incidence of post-traumatic stress disorder and mental health issues. As a result, many of this first wave of combatants became involved in organized crime, human trafficking, and the black-market economy. Second- and third-phase demobilization efforts in 2002-2004 and 2006-2007 focused on soldiers, managed with support from International Organization for Migration and the Bosnian government with smaller-scale ongoing assistance from the North Atlantic Treaty Organization Trust Fund. This included the provision of significant financial assistance, livelihoods programming, assistance, and training, and civil education courses addressing topics including human rights. Similarly, SSR initiatives were slow to start and ran with different international organizations involved in different phases. Police reform involved some vetting and demobilization of ethnic police forces but occurred with little coordination with other DDR processes. Transitional justice and identification of war criminals absorbed greater focus than organized crime.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

In Northern Ireland, the GFA and peace process failed to articulate any clear approach to DDR post-GFA. Many ex-combatants are ex-prisoners who remain frustrated that they never received adequate assistance to support their reintegration into communities, including the fact that many possess limited education and skills needed for the modern work force and have a criminal record, which inhibits their ability to move into the legitimate economy. Many complain that this is a factor that has pushed them to engage in illicit activities. In Northern Ireland, significant attention was directed toward SSR with little to no focus on DDR and thus not even an attempt to coordinate between these two processes.

Going beyond BiH and Northern Ireland, there is broad recognition that DDR and SSR should be interconnected and mutually reinforcing in design, resourcing, management, and evaluation but it nonetheless does not always happen in practice. Demobilization and reintegration phases need to invest in context-specific analysis of economic factors, crime, and smuggling dynamics in localities. They also need to design programming and specific countermeasures to tackle vulnerability to increases in societal violence and organized crime post-conflict, as well as guide and support the transition of ex-combatants either into civilian life or their integration into the security apparatus as shaped by SSR processes.

CONCLUSION

This study has sought to advance and encourage deeper exploration of the important role of SSR and police reform in tackling organized crime in post-conflict environments. In doing so, it has drawn upon a series of observations, experiences and lessons learned from Northern Ireland and Bosnia-Herzegovina, two mature case studies that allow us to look back and analyze the role that

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

organized crime has played in their post-conflict trajectories. Over twenty-plus years since their respective peace processes, both case studies have made enormous strides in progressing reforms and building peace, and yet both continue to be hampered in consolidating peace dividends and stability by ongoing organized crime linked to negative conflict dynamics of old. Further still, Northern Ireland and Bosnia-Herzegovina represent two case studies where the domestic and international peacebuilding community benefitted from base levels of development, educational attainment and international funding which are unlikely to be paralleled in many of the challenging conflict and post-conflict environments we operate in today. Yet still they failed to stem the undermining effects of organized crime in the post-conflict space. This report seeks to demonstrate—through a universally applicable set of observations and responses—that what is required is early stage recognition of the threat of organized crime to peace and security, accompanied by a deep cognizance of the risks it poses in crafting a multi-level approach, dependent upon strong and ongoing analysis, and leading to carefully timed interventions and reforms, particularly in the key areas of SSR and police reform, which are so central to any state's response to tackling organized crime.

Fast forward twenty years and organized crime today plays perhaps an even more insidious role in theaters of conflict globally. Organized crime, conflict and extremist groups have grown more and more transnational in nature. Ignoring these dynamics, or blithely waiting to resolve them once the basics of peace and structural reforms have been achieved, is no longer an option. They exist as a quiet force against those gains, undermining and undercutting progress.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

ENDNOTES

¹ OECD (2008), The OECD DAC Handbook on Security System Reform: Supporting Security and Justice, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264027862-en</u>.

² United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. 2004. United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the protocols thereto. New York: United Nations.

³ Mary Kaldor, New and Old Wars: Organized Violence in a Global Era (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1999): 3-4.

⁴ Louise Riis Andersen, "Security Sector Reform and the Dilemmas of Liberal Peacebuilding," Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS) Working Paper, DIIS's Defense and Security Studies Project, 2011: 5.

⁵ Heiner Hanggi, "Conceptualising Security Sector Reform and Reconstruction," in *Reform and Reconstruction of the Security Sector*, eds. Alan Bryden and Heiner Hanggi (New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers, 2004), 3-20: 5-6.

⁶ Andersen, *Security Sector Reform*, 9.

⁷ Branka Marijan, "The Gradual Emergence of Second Generation Security Sector Reform in Bosnia-Herzegovina," *Centre for Security Governance* 13 (2017): 1-32: 27-28.

⁸ Mark Sedra, "Adapting Security Sector Reform to Ground-Level Realities: The Transition to a Second-Generation Model," *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding* 12, no. 1 (2018): 48-63. ⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰ Marijan, Second Generation SSR in Bosnia, 11.

¹¹ Paul Jackson, "Introduction: Second-Generation Security Sector Reform," *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding* 12, no. 1 (2018): 6; Mark Sedra, "Transitioning from First to Second Generation Security Sector Reform in Conflict-affected Countries," *Handbook of International Security and Development*, ed. Paul Jackson (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2015): 165-80.

¹² James Gallen, "Security Sector Reform, Models of Policing and Methods of Comparison," Irish Journal of Legal Studies, 3, no. 2 (2013): 39.

¹³ Peter Uvin, Andre Bourque, Craig Cohen, "Regional Solutions to Regional Problems: The Elusive Search for Security in the African Great Lakes," *Fletcher Forum of World Affairs* 29, no. 2 (2005): 67-82 and 80-81.

¹⁴ Walter Kemp, Mark Shaw, & Arthur Boutellis, "The Elephant in the Room: How Can Peace Operations Deal with Organized Crime?", *International Peace Institute*, (2013): 4.

¹⁵ Ibid.

¹⁶ Ibid., 5.

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Christina Steenkamp, "The Crime-Conflict Nexus and the Civil War in Syria," *Stability: International Journal of Security & Development* 6, no. 1 (2017): 1-18, 4.

¹⁹ Kaldor, New and Old Wars, 1-5.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

²⁰ Paul Collier and Anke Hoeffler, "Greed and Grievance in Civil War," SSRN Scholarly Paper (Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network, May 1, 2000), <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=630727</u>; Mats R. Berdal and David M. Malone, *Greed and Grievance: Economic Agendas in Civil Wars* (Boulder, Colo: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2000).Steenkamp, *Civil War in Syria*, 4.

²¹ Ibid.

²² Elaine Banar, Adalbert Gross, Michael E. Hartmann, Deborah Isser, Andrew Mackay, Vivienne O'Connor, David C. Ralston, Colette Rausch, *Fighting Serious Crime: Strategies and Tactics for Conflict-Affected Societies*, ed. Colette Rausch, and Thomas Stevenson (Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace, 2017).

²³ James Cockayne, *Hidden Power: The Strategic Logic of Organized Crime* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2016): 10-11.

²⁴ Ibid., 10.

²⁵ Enrique Desmond Arias, "Getting Smart and Scaling Up: The Impact of Organized Crime on Governance in Developing Countries, A Desk Study of Jamaica," *NYU Center on International Cooperation*, ed. Camino Kavanaugh (2013): 222-23.

²⁶ Ibid., 231-32.

²⁷ Steenkamp, *Civil War in Syria*, 4.

²⁸ Francesco Mancini, "The Company We Keep: Private Contractors in Jamaica," in *Managing Insecurity*, eds. Gordon Peake, Eric Scheye, Alice Hills (New York: Routledge, 2008), 145-64.

²⁹ Glenn E. Curtis and Tara Karacan, "The Nexus Among Terrorists, Narcotics Traffickers, Weapons Proliferators, and Organized Crime Networks in Western Europe," *Library of Congress, Federal Research Division* (2002): 1-30.

³⁰ Gregory F. Treverton, Carl Matthies, Karla J. Cunningham, Jeremiah Goulka, Greg Ridgeway, and Anny Wong, "Film Piracy, Organized Crime, and Terrorism," *RAND, Safety and Justice Program and the Global Risk and Security Center* (2009): 1-162.

³¹ Judith Vorrath, "What drives post-war crime? Evidence from illicit economies in Liberia and Sierra Leone," *Third World Thematics: A TWQ Journal* 3, no. 1 (2018): 28-45.

³² Sarah Detzner, "Modern post-conflict security sector reform in Africa: patterns of success and failure," *African Security Review* 26, no. 2 (2017): 116-142.

³³ Mark Shaw, "Crime, Police and Public in Transitional Societies," *Transformation: Critical Perspectives on Southern Africa* 49, no. 1 (2002): 1–24, https://doi.org/10.1353/trn.2003.0007; Walter Kemp,

Mark Shaw, and Arthur Boutellis, "The Elephant in the Room: How Can Peace Operations Deal with Organized Crime?," IPI - International Peace Institute (blog), accessed August 21, 2018,

https://www.ipinst.org/2013/06/the-elephant-in-the-room-how-can-peace-operations-deal-withorganized-crime; James Cockayne and Lead Rapporteur, "Transnational Organized Crime: IPI Blue

Paper No. 2," IPI - International Peace Institute (blog), accessed August 21, 2018,

https://www.ipinst.org/2009/01/transnational-organized-crime-ipi-blue-paper-no-2; Vanda Felbab-Brown, "Rules and Regulations in Ungoverned Spaces: Illicit Economies, Crimnals, and

Belligerants," in Ungoverned Spaces: Alternatives to State Authroiety in an Era of Softened Sovereignty, by Anne L. Clunan and Harold A. Trinkunas (eds.) (Stanford: Standford University Press, 2010), 175; Vanda

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

Felbab-Brown, "The hellish road to good intentions," UN University, April 2017; Camino Kavanagh, "Getting Smart and Scaling Up," n.d., 53.

³⁴ See UK Stabilization Unit website for analysis and case study material on Elite Bargains and Political Deals: <u>http://www.sclr.stabilisationunit.gov.uk/publications/elite-bargains-and-political-deals</u>.

³⁵ Jackson, Second-Generation Security Reform, 1-10.

³⁶ James Cockayne and Lead Rapporteur, "IPI Blue Papers, Transnational Organized Crime: Task Forces on Strengthening Multilateral Security Capacity No. 2," *International Peace Institute*, (2009): 16. ³⁷ <u>"Northern Ireland Organized Crime Task Force-Annual-Report-2017.Pdf," accessed August 22,</u> 2018, http://www.octf.gov.uk/OCTF/media/OCTF/documents/articles/publications/OCTF-<u>Annual-Report-2017.pdf?ext=.pdf</u>.

³⁸ "The Financing of Terrorism in Northern Ireland. Volume II of This Report (HC 987-II) Includes the Government Response to the Second Report, Session 2001-02, The Financing of Terrorism in Norther Ireland: Interim Report on the Proceeds of Crime Bill, HC 628." (Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, n.d.).

³⁹ Particularly from Noraid, see "Irish Troubles, American Money", The Washington Post, accessed August 22, 2018, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/opinions/1987/03/22/irish-troubles-american-money/593e3941-826e-4719-bc79-</u>

<u>8eb528f8ac70/?noredirect=on&utm_term=.c8a8c6715d2d;</u> "American IRA Figure Calls for End to Dissident Republican Armed Struggle | UK News | The Guardian," accessed August 22, 2018, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/jan/18/martin-galvin-american-ira-dissident-republican-end-armed-struggle</u>.

⁴⁰ VAT carousel fraud is the theft of Value Added Tax (VAT) from governments by organized crime gangs who exploit the way VAT is treated within multi-jurisdictional trading where the movement of goods between jurisdictions—in this case between Britain and the Republic of Ireland—is VAT-free.

⁴¹ Angelique Chrisafis, "Spotlight Turns to Slick IRA Money-Making Machine," the Guardian, February 19, 2005,

http://www.theguardian.com/uk/2005/feb/19/northernireland.northernireland1; "IRA and PLO: Alliance for Violence - The Washington Post," accessed August 22, 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/opinions/1979/09/09/ira-and-plo-alliance-forviolence/6e8363ad-a18f-49b1-a95b-8c8f2239098c/?utm_term=.1b948c2879d0.

⁴² "The Libyan Connection," *BBC News*, February 23, 2011, sec. Northern Ireland, <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-12539372</u>.

⁴³ Interview with PSNI, April 16, 2018.

⁴⁴ "IRA and INLA at War on Capital's Streets," Independent.ie, accessed August 18, 2018, <u>https://www.independent.ie/irish-news/ira-and-inla-at-war-on-capitals-streets-34870744.html</u>.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

⁴⁵ Interview with PSNI, April 16, 2018.

⁴⁶ Jon Moran, *Policing the Peace in Northern Ireland: Politics, Crime and Security after the Belfast Agreement* (Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press, n.d.).

⁴⁷ Interview with PSNI, April 16, 2018.

⁴⁸ Interview with PSNI, April 16, 2018; and "UDA Drugs Ring Exposed - Terror Group's Racket Involved Triad Gang and Ex-Mercenary," *BelfastTelegraph.Co.Uk*, accessed August 22, 2018, <u>https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/sunday-life/uda-drugs-ring-exposed-terror-groups-racket-involved-triad-gang-and-exmercenary-37154700.html</u>.

⁴⁹ Esther Addley, "British Troops Leave after 38 Years," *The Guardian*, August 1, 2007, sec. UK news, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2007/aug/01/northernireland.military</u>.

⁵⁰ Kristin Archick, "Northern Ireland: Current Issues and Ongoing Challenges in the Peace Process," Report, Digital Library, March 14, 2017, <u>https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc980504/</u>.

⁵¹ Interview with retired RUC officer, April 17, 2018.

⁵² "OCTF-Annual-Report-2017.Pdf."

⁵³ Interview with Dr. Neil Jarman, Queen's University Belfast, 19 April 2018.

⁵⁴ Henry McDonald Ireland correspondent, "Northern Ireland 'punishment' Attacks Rise 60% in Four Years," *The Guardian*, March 12, 2018, sec. UK news, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/mar/12/northern-ireland-punishment-attacks-rise-60-in-four-years</u>.

⁵⁵ Susan McKay, "How old ghosts are haunting Ireland", The Guardian, 25 March 2018.

⁵⁶ Jasmin Mujanovic, *Hunger and Fury: The Crisis of Democracy in the Balkans* (Oxford University Press, 2018).

Frank Bovenkerk, "Organized Crime in Former Yugoslavia," in *Global Organized Crime*, Studies of Organized Crime (Springer, Dordrecht, 2003), 45–50, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0985-0_6</u>.

⁵⁷ UNODC, "Crime and Its Impact on The Balkans," March 2008.

⁵⁸ Sheelagh Brady, "Organised Crime in BiH A Silent War Fought by an Ambush of Toothless Tigers or a War Not yet Fought?," *ORCCP*, 2012.

⁵⁹ Kate Bayliss, "Post-Conflict Privatisation: A Review of Developments in Serbia and Bosnia Herzegovina," n.d., 112; Timothy Donais, "The Politics of Privatization in Post-Dayton Bosnia," n.d., 19.

⁶⁰ UNODC, "Crime and Its Impact on The Balkans"; Peter Andreas, "Peace Operations and Illicit Business in Bosnia," in *Peace Operations and Organized Crime: Enemies or Allies*, ed. James Cockayne and Adam Lupel (Routledge, 2013).

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

⁶¹ UNODC, "Crime and Its Impact on The Balkans."

⁶² "Ask Not from Whom the AK-47s Flow," *The Economist*, April 16, 2016, <u>https://www.economist.com/europe/2016/04/16/ask-not-from-whom-the-ak-47s-flow</u>.

⁶³ Jasmine-Kim Westendorf and Louise Searle, "Sexual Exploitation and Abuse in Peace Operations: Trends, Policy Responses and Future Directions," *International Affairs* 93, no. 2 (March 1, 2017): 365–87, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix001</u>; Owen Bowcott, "Report Reveals Shame of UN Peacekeepers," *The Guardian*, March 25, 2005, sec. World news, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2005/mar/25/unitednations</u>.

⁶⁴ UNODC, "Crime and Its Impact on The Balkans."; Interview with Director of Police, Sarajevo Canton, May 7, 2018.

⁶⁵ International Security Sector Advisory Team (ISSAT), "Bosnia and Herzegovina SSR Background Note," International Security Sector Advisory Team (ISSAT), accessed August 16, 2018, <u>https://issat.dcaf.ch/Learn/Resource-Library/Country-Profiles/Bosnia-and-Herzegovina-SSR-Background-Note</u>.

⁶⁶ Interview with retired police officer, May 8, 2018.

⁶⁷ European Union Council Joint Actions 2005/824, 2007/749, 2008/130 and 2009/906.

⁶⁸ Colette Rausch, "Combating Serious Crimes in Postconflict Societies - English Edition," United States Institute of Peace, 2006, <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2006/12/combating-serious-crimes-postconflict-societies-english-edition</u>.

⁶⁹ For a detailed analysis of the EUPM see: Tobias Flessenkemper, Damien Helly, and Institute for Security Studies (Paris, France), eds., *Ten Years after: Lessons from the EUPM in Bosnia and Herzegovina 2002-2012*, ISS, Joint Report (Paris: EU Institute for Security Studies, 2013).

⁷⁰ See Paddy Ashdown's Forward to Colette Rausch, "Combating Serious Crimes in Postconflict Societies - English Edition," United States Institute of Peace, 2006, <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2006/12/combating-serious-crimes-postconflict-societies-english-edition</u>.

⁷¹ Denis Hadžović, "Study of Organised Crime in Bosnia and Herzegovina" (Centre for Security Studies, Sarajevo, 2014).

⁷² Julian Borger World affairs editor, "Arms Shipment to Bosnian Serbs Stokes EU Fears," *The Guardian*, February 13, 2018, sec. World news,

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/feb/13/bosnian-serb-police-arms-purchase-stokes-eufears; "Russian-Trained Mercenaries Back Bosnia's Serb Separatists | World News | The Guardian," accessed August 17, 2018, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jan/12/russian-trainedmercenaries-back-bosnias-serb-separatists.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

⁷³ Walter Kemp, Mark Shaw, and Arthur Boutellis, "The Elephant in the Room: How Can Peace Operations Deal with Organized Crime?," *IPI - International Peace Institute* (blog), accessed August 21, 2018, <u>https://www.ipinst.org/2013/06/the-elephant-in-the-room-how-can-peace-operations-deal-with-organized-crime</u>; James Cockayne (Lead Rapporteur), "Transnational Organized Crime: IPI Blue Paper No. 2," *IPI - International Peace Institute* (blog), accessed August 21, 2018, <u>https://www.ipinst.org/2009/01/transnational-organized-crime-ipi-blue-paper-no-2</u>.

⁷⁴ Shaw, "Crime, Police and Public in Transitional Societies," p.1.

⁷⁵ Colette Rausch et al., *Fighting Serious Crimes: Strategies and Tactics for Conflict-Affected Societies* (Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace Press, 2017); Kemp, Shaw, and Boutellis, "The Elephant in the Room."

⁷⁶ Kemp, Shaw, and Boutellis, *The Elephant in the Room*, p. 56.

⁷⁷ Cockayne and Lead Rapporteur, *Transnational Organized Crime*, 18.

78 Ibid.

⁷⁹ Richard Holbrooke, *To End A War*, (New York: Random House, 1998).

⁸⁰ Henri Boshoff, Dylan Hendrickson, Sylvie More, & Thierry Vircoulon, "Supporting SSR in the DRC: Between a Rock and a Hard Place," *Netherlands Institute of International Relations 'Clingendael*", (2010): ii.

⁸¹ Kemp, Shaw & Boutellis, *Elephant in the Room*, 56.

⁸² "Dayton 2 unrealistic; others can't solve Bosnia's problems," B92, <u>https://www.b92.net/eng/news/region.php?yyy=2017&mm=12&dd=29&nav_id=103156</u>.

⁸³ While other recommendations were given that relate to institutions within the UN, the recommendations iterated here pertain to practitioners specifically in line with the goals of this project.

⁸⁴ Cockayne and Lead Rapporteur, *Transnational Organized Crime*, 15-19.

⁸⁵ "Securing Communities: The What and the How of Community Policing," ODI, accessed August 27, 2018, https://www.odi.org/publications/7633-community-policing.

⁸⁶ Although numerous definitions exist a simple definition for community policing describes it as "a philosophy that promotes a problem-solving approach to public safety involving partnership with the community; and a strategy that practically involves members of the community working together with the police on issues of crime, disorder and public safety." L. Denney and S. Jenkins, "Securing communities: the what and the how of community policing", ODI Background Paper (2013),

⁸⁷ Detzner, Modern Post-Conflict SSR in Africa, 116-42.

⁸⁸ *Ibid.*

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.

⁸⁹ Paul Jackson and Peter Albrecht, "Introduction: The Roots of Security Sector Reform in Sierra Leone," *Security Sector Reform in Sierra Leone 1997-2007: Views from the Front Line* (2010), 13.

⁹⁰ "The SSR Experience of Sierra Leone, A Shining Model in West Africa and Beyond," United Nations Office for West Africa and the Sahel (August 18, 2017), <u>https://unowas.unmissions.org/ssr-experience-sierra-leone-shining-model-west-africa-and-beyond</u>; Adrian Horn, Funmi Olonisakin & Gordon Peake, "United Kingdom-led Security Sector Reform in Sierra Leone," *Civil Wars*, Vol 8, Issue 2 (2006): 109-23.

⁹¹ Ian Cobain and Owen Bowcott, "RUC Told to Put Intelligence before Arrests, Reveals Secret MI5 Report," *The Guardian*, June 26, 2018, sec. UK news, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/jun/26/special-branch-ruc-put-evidence-before-arrest-walker-mi5-report-northern-ireland</u>; Jennifer O'Leary, "Deadly Weapons in a Secret War," *BBC News*, September 20, 2016, sec. Northern Ireland, <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-37420460</u>.

92 Cobain and Bowcott, "RUC Told to Put Intelligence before Arrests, Reveals Secret MI5 Report."

⁹³ Interviews with serving PSNI and retired RUC officers, April 2018.

⁹⁴ Hanggi, Conceptualising SSR, 11.

⁹⁵ Edward Rees, "Security Sector Reform (SSR) and Peace Operations: 'Improvisation and Confusion' from the Field," *International Peacekeeping: The Yearbook of International Peace Operations* 12, (2008), 139-66, 145.

⁹⁶ Ibid.

⁹⁷ Sean McFate, "The Link Between DDR and SSR in Conflict-Affected Countries," United States Institute of Peace (2010): 1-15.

⁹⁸ Detzner, Modern Post-Conflict SSR in Africa, 116-42.

⁹⁹ Madeline England and Alix Boucher, "Security Sector Reform: Thematic Literature Review on Best Practices and Lessons Learned," *The Henry L. Stimson Center* (2010): 23.

¹⁰⁰ Rees, SSR and Peace Operations, 145.

¹⁰¹ Ibid, 146.

Support was provided by the U.S. Department of State. The views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect those of the U.S. Department of State.